IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
MARSHALL DIVISION

WILLIE RAY, JAMILLAH JOHNSON, )

GLORIA MEEKS, REBECCA )
MINNEWEATHER, REUBEN )
ROBINSON, EDDIE JACKSON, )
and THE TEXAS DEMOCRATIC PARTY, )

)
Plaintiffs, )

)
V. ) Civil Action Number 2:06-CV-385(TJW)

STATE OF TEXAS, a State of )
the United States; GREG ABBOTT, )
Attorney General of the State of Texas; )
and PHIL WILSON, Secretary of )
State for the State of Texas, )

Defendants. )

PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND
SUPPORTING MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES




Pursuant to Rule 56, Federal Rules of Civil ProcedRlaintiffs Willie Ray, Jamillah
Johnson, Gloria Meeks, Rebecca Minneweather, ReRbbmson, Eddie Jackson, and the
Texas Democratic Party, by and through undersigoedsel, respectfully move for summary
judgment with respect to their challenges to Sedd4.004 of the Texas Election Code, as set
forth in Counts |, Il and IV of Plaintiffs’ First ended Complaint. Because Section 84.004 is
unconstitutional and violates Section 208 of theiMpRights Act of 1965, it should be declared
unlawful and permanently enjoined. The groundgha motion are set forth below.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES TO BE DECIDED

The parties’ May28, 2008 Settlement Agreement, announced in opert oa that date,
stated in pertinent part that Plaintiffs agreedismiss certain of their claims with prejudice
“except for Plaintiffs’ challenges to Texas EleatiGode Sec. 84.004 as set forth in the amended
complaint[.]” Settlement Agreement 1.

Consequently, the issues remaining for this Coul¢'@sion are whether Section 84.004
of the Texas Election Code, which restricts, urmien of criminal penalty, individuals from
witnessing more than one mail-in ballot applicatpan election cycle (other than for family
members): (1) violates Section 208 of the Votingh®s Act, 42 U.S.C § 1973aa-6; (2) violates
the fundamental right to vote guaranteed by thst ind Fourteenth Amendments to the U.S.

Constitution; and (3) violates the First Amendment.

! Section 84.004 of the Texas Election Code providemhasis added):
(a) A person commits an offense if, in the sateetion, the person signs an early voting balgtligation as a
witness for more than one applicant
(b) Itis an exception to the application obSeiction (a) that the person signed early votiripbapplications for
more than one applicant:
(1) as an early voting clerk or deputylyegoting clerk; or
(2) and the person is related to the amltht applicants as a parent, grandparent, spabdd, or sibling.
(c) A violation of this section does not affélee validity of an application involved in the effse.
(d) Each application signed by the witnessiaation of this section constitutes a separateraf€. An offense
under this section is a Class B misdemeanor.




STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS

Mail-in Voting in Texas

1. Voting by mail is an established tradition and coonnpractice in Texas. Texas
law provides a statutory right to cast a ballotsil for any qualified voter who is 65 years or
older on Election Day, who will be absent from tdointy of residence on Election Day, or who
is disabled or ill. Texas Election Code §§ 82.8@1003

2. The Secretary of State has recognized that caatbadlot by mail in Texas is
synonymous with “exercis[ing] your right to votePlaintiffs’ Summary Judgment Opposition
(“SJ Opp.”) Ex. 17; Preliminary Injunction (“P1")%8.3

3. To vote by mail, an eligible registered voter “mostke an application for an
early voting ballot to be voted by mail.” Texa®é&ion Code § 84.001(a).

Assistance With Mail-in Voting Takes Many Forms

4, Because mail-in voters include the elderly, disdlaed ill,seeTexas Election
Code 88 82.001-82.003, many mail-in voters reqoirgrefer assistance with the mail-in
balloting process in several respects, and theaanisll-established and common practice in
Texas, particularly in certain communities, to pdavassistance to mail-in voters. In fact, some
voters need assistance for the entire applicamonvating process. 1.R.761.

5. The assistance provided to mail-in voters has takany forms, such as:
providing assistance to voters in completing arliegipon for a mail-in ballot, including mailing

“pre-filled” applications to voters, who then nesaly sign and return the application; helping

2 Voting by mail is a part of Texas’s establishesteyn of “early voting,” whereby individuals may tasllots
before Election Day in person or by mail. Texasclibn Code § 81.004t seq.

343J Opp. Ex. __ " refers to exhibits submitted witkaintiffs’ summary judgment opposition submittesfore the
May 28, 2008 partial settlement. “Pl PX__" refegsexhibits submitted by Plaintiffs at the 2006lpnéary
injunction hearing in this case. “PI Tr. __" refdo the transcript from the 2006 preliminary irgtion hearing in
this case. “R” refers to the Fifth Circuit recamd appeal of this Court’s preliminary injunctiorder. “App. Ex.
__"refers to exhibits that Plaintiffs are appemngia this motion in a separately filed Appendix.



voters who have received mail-in ballots with magktheir ballots (particularly for voters who
are blind or who cannot read or write); and phybigaacing sealed ballots in the mail on behalf
of mail-in voters. Preliminary Injunction Trangatri(“PI Tr.”) 61-65, 72-76, 86-87; Pl PX14 at
10-17; PI PX15 at 8-14; 1.R.7512.

6. Prior to the 2003 amendments to the Texas Ele@mate, several of which were
previously challenged in this litigation, the TeXasction Code set forth certain regulations of
two categories of individuals helping voters. Madevant here, “witnesses” are individuals
who sign a document for votets‘Assistants” are those who provide certain, sfeaid to
mail-in and in-person voters other than witnesssugh as reading or marking a voter’s ballot.
Seeid. 88 86.010; 64.0321.

Mail-in Voting in Texas Minority Communities and the Texas Democratic Party’'s Role

7. For many years, it has been common practice byichails, political parties, and
other organizations in certain communities in Texascluding the Texarkana community where
Plaintiffs Ray, Johnson, and Robinson reside; it Aorth, where Plaintiffs Meeks and
Minneweather reside; and in the Marshall area, wp&intiff Jackson resides — to maximize
voter turnout by assisting voters in applying foda&asting their mail-in ballofs.

8. Such assistance has particularly benefited votarsave severely physically
handicapped, such as Plaintiffs Meeks, Robinsoah)ate Plaintiff Parthenia McDonald. This
assistance also benefits elderly voters and thbseare illiterate.

9. This political and civic activity has been widelgad by both of the major

political parties in Texas, and also by the pdditiactivists within the Plaintiff Texas Democratic

* SeeTexas Election Code § 1.011 (“When this code reguir person to sign an application, report, orrothe
document or paper, except as otherwise providetibycode, the document or paper may be signethéoperson
by a witness, as provided by this section, if thespn required to sign cannot do so because of<siqath disability
or illiteracy.”).

® SeePl Tr. 61-65, 72-76, 86-87; PI PX14 at 10-17; PlBXt 8-14; 1.R.75-7612.



Party, the Bowie County Democratic Party, the HamiCounty Democratic Party, and the
Tarrant County Democratic Party. Pl Tr. 86-87PRi14 at 10-17; 1.R.7818.

10.  For example, Plaintiff Texas Democratic Party leagylundertaken efforts to
assist mail-in voters in order to maximize votentwt, particularly among the elderly and
disabled. PITr. 86-87; 1.R.75-76%2[exas Democratic Party representative Ken Baikey
indicated that the “the mail-in ballot program igtical to the Party’s get-out-the-vote efforts.”
Bailey Declaration at 2 (in attached Appendix asBx As part of implementing this voter
turnout effort, party activists such as Plaint®ay, Johnson, Meeks, and Minneweather have
been contacted frequently by friends and acquatetarequesting assistance in applying for and
casting mail-in ballots. Such voter turnout effcate commonplace and well-established
throughout TexasSeeSJ Opp. Exs. 6, 7, 9, 15, 21, 22; Pl PX13, 14’ 15.

11. The Texas Democratic Party has implemented efforiiscrease voter turnout in
minority communities in particular, including blaakd Hispanic communities in Texas, because
turnout there is typically lower than in Anglo comnities, due in large part to the long history
of voting discrimination by the State. 1.R.7899.

12.  Absent the efforts of the Texas Democratic Parginiffs, and individuals like

them, many potential mail-in voters would find iffidult or impossible to apply for and receive

®In 2006, the Texas Democratic Party expected éndmpproximately $100,000 in efforts to assist-inaioters.
1.R.7613. In 2008, the Plaintiff Texas Democr&taty again intends to maximize voter turnout antldase
political participation by assisting mail-in votemscluding with applying for mail-in ballots, witha focus on
providing assistance to the elderly and disabl&$eSJ Opp. Ex. 15. In past years, a significant nurobe
individuals in Texas working on behalf of Demoatatampaigns and local/county officials of the Deratic Party
have been involved in assisting mail-in voters.TR161-65, 72-76, 86-87; Pl PX14 at 10-17; Pl P>t B-14;
1.R.75-7692.

"In all cases of assistance provided by Plaintiffsluding the Texas Democratic Party, the assisterely provides
whatever help the voter requests. 1.R.776. Wiheraeeded assistance involves reading the lalbbvoter or
providing instruction in marking the ballot, theteds decision is made by the voter without infloeror pressure
from the assistor. 1.R.7716. Mail-in voters redgylanform the Texas Democratic Party that theyrapate the
assistance provided by the Party and volunteersr.F35; 1.R.7613.

8 The Director of Electionatthe Secretary of State’s Office, Ann McGeehartijfted that she had anecdotal
information that it was an important part of thé-get-the-vote effort in black communities in Texaselderly and
disabled voters to be assisted by their neighbmdsfriends with respect to mail-in voting. SJ Opp. 3 at 17.



a mail-in ballot, or to properly complete and castallot. PI Tr. 64, 68, 86-87, 123; PI PX14 at
17; PIPX15 at 12; 1.R.7898.

Specific Examples of Mail-In Voters in Need of Asstance

13.  Plaintiff Robinson is severely physically handicagphas suffered a major stroke
that has left him partially paralyzed, and useshael chair. SJ Opp. Ex. 4 af 5f Plaintiff Ray
or Plaintiff Johnson were not willing to help PlaihRobinson vote, he probably would not get
to vote because he does not know anyone else whd kelp him.Id. at 13, 18'°

14.  The need for such assistance is exemplified byR&mtiff Parthenia McDonald,
who at the time of her videotaped trial depositim2006, was a 78-year old, homebound, and
severely physically handicapped woman living intRorth, and who required assistance to
receive and cast her mail-in ballot. PI Tr. 119-23

15.  Similarly, two severely disabled voters, Eddie Barciin and Amanda Hill, of
Karnack (Harrison County) and Texarkana (Bowie Ggumespectively, have testified that they
require assistance in voting by mail. SJ Opp.EApp. Exs. 4, 8!

16.  Plaintiff Robinson, voter Buchanan, and voter iddch wish to receive assistance
in the future in applying for mail-in ballots, manl those ballots, and having those ballots
mailed for them by trusted friends with whom theyrbt reside or with whom they are

unrelated.SeeSJ Opp. Exs. 4, 5; App. Exs. 4-6.

® Plaintiff Robinson is an African-American maleregistered voter in Bowie County, and a regist@echocrat.
He was one of dozens of voters questioned by imgasts from the office of the Defendant Abbot2®05 when
the Attorney General's office was investigatingiRiffs Ray and Johnson. App. Ex. 3.

19 Because he cannot use his right hand, Plaintiffifsmn requires the assistance of another persordar to
obtain and cast his mail-in ballot, and he depeamda trusted friend to assist him in applying fonail-in ballot and
in casting that mail-in ballot. SJ Opp. Ex. 4 @&1R. Plaintiff Robinson voted by mail in the 20&l&ctions and
received assistance in votintd. The person who assisted Plaintiff Robinson in 2@84 indicted in 2005 by
Defendant Abbott for mailing Plaintiff Robinson’sllot.

Y Mr. Buchanan, a stroke victim, resides with higewbut if she were no longer able to help himpwoeild need to
call upon Plaintiff Eddie Jackson to help him, hesmahe needs help in applying for the ballot, mgik ballot, and
filling out the ballot. SJ Opp. Ex. 5 at 7-Buchanan testified that if he could not receivaségsce in mailing his
ballot, he would not be able to votll. Voter Amanda Hill also cannot prepare outgoingl inecause of her
disability, and without assistance, she too woute able to vote. App. Ex. 5 at 9-10.



Section 84.004 of the Texas Election Code

17.  Section 84.004 was enacted in 1985 and becamdie&@n January 1, 1986. It
provides that a mail-in ballot application signed the applicant by a witness, rather than by the
applicant, must indicate the applicant’s relatiopgb the witnessseeTexas Election Code §
84.003(a), subject to the general rules applicabtbe signing of election-related documents by
a witnesssee id.§ 1.011*% Furthermore, Section 84.004 makes it a Classdlemeanor to
serve as a witness for more than one mail-in bajpgiication in the same election. Thus, for
eachmail-in ballot application signed by a witnessitess of one per election cycle, the
witness faces up to 180 days in jail and up to,82fine. SeeTexas Penal Code § 12.22
(setting forth penalties for Class B misdemeanors).

18. Plaintiffs challenge Section 84.004 as violatingmas provisions of federal law
by unduly burdening the ability of party activistsd others to provide assistance to those who
need help obtaining mail-in ballots.

The 2003 Amendments to the Election Code

19. In 2003, despite broad prohibitions already empowgerexas officials to combat
actual voter fraudsee, e.g.Texas Election Code 88 64.012, 64.036, 84.00%LTexas
Legislature amended the Texas Election Code tdeceeaeries of additional prohibitions related

to mail-in voting. SeeHouse Bill 54, 2003 Texas Gen. Laws 393 (78th Llagise 2003)>

12 5ection 1.011(d) requires that a witness affixwlitaess’s signature, name and address on the daduahissue.
13 Among other things, in 2003, the Texas Legislags@blished additional criminal penalties for wises in the
mail-in ballot application process, providing faimginal penalties for witnesses to mail-in ballppécations who
do not provide their identifying information as wéed by Section 1.011 of the Election Codee id§ 84.003(b).

The 2003 amendments also created an additionaictast on assistance with respect to mail-in bidig,
providing for criminal penalties for anyone who time presence of the applicartherwise assistan applicant in
completing an early voting ballot application.” xBes Election Code § 84.003(b). The definition adsisting a
voter” provided for by the 2003 legislatiosge id.8 64.0321, doesotapply to Section 84.003(bBee id. Thus,
Section 84.003(b) may be read to criminalize a wadeyeof aid long provided to voters applying for mail-in
ballots, including, but not limited to, “assistahceder Section 64.0321.



20.  Well before passage of the 2003 amendments, Deféntdad knowledge, or
reasonably should have known, of the widespreaakfremdulent practice of assisting voters
with mail-in balloting, identified above. House i@m. On Elections, Bill Analysis, Tex. H.B.
54, 78" Leg., R.S. (2003)*

21.  Asthe legislative hearings concerning the 2003radmeents indicate, the Texas
Legislature received no evidence of fraud concgrimdividuals and organizations who
provided assistance to voters with mail-in ballstgsh as PlaintiffsSee, e.g.Pl PX21-2495, PI
PX25-264"

The Investigations and Prosecutions of Plaintiffs ¥ Defendant Abbott Have Not Involved
Voter Fraud

22.  Plaintiffs Ray, Johnson, Minneweather, Jackson,Medks are political activists
associated with both the Texas Democratic Partytlagid respective local county democratic
parties. Each of these Plaintiffs has provideduhwassistance to registered voters in Texas in
the past with regard to applying for and castingj4maballots. Each of these Plaintiffs wishes to
provide lawful assistance to voters in the futusee generallysJ Opp. Exs. 7, 9, 22; App. Ex. 7;

Pl PX13, 15.

14 Further, Defendants knew, or should have knowat, ttiis practice was particularly utilized in mamijnority
communities in Texas, including Texarkana and Kéotth, to maximize voter turnout and that this piccwas
utilized by political parties, including individusabhnd organizations affiliated with the Democr&arty. Id. See
also,e.g, SJ Opp. Ex. 3 at 17; SJ Opp. Ex. 16.

15 Many witnesses simply assumed that such fraudawasblem. For example, Representative Wolenspithe
sponsor, explained, what motivated him was elinmigaanyappearancef fraud: “I'm not here complaining that
there is widespread fraud, | just am saying thatelare minimum improprieties that on the face wfak wrong.”
3.R.672;se€3.R.667 (seeking to “absolutely eliminate the apaeee of impropriety”); 3.R.671-72 (“[w]hen | read
about it anecdotally in the newspapers, | don’tniego make certain that there is a fraud or roduad, it is
announced that it just looks bad”).

Throughout the debate on the 2003 amendments, kegiséators questioned whether the provisions were
targeted at legitimate get-out-the-vote effortstipalarly those of African-Americans and Hispani&ee, e.g.
3.R.735. Nonetheless, the understanding of leégisdincluding Democrats) voting for the legisteti‘was that the
amendments would be used to investigate and prtesactual instances of voter fraud” and would retbed to
prosecute those who simply mailed ballots for otlaters or to otherwise deter people from providisgistance to
voters in need. Pl PX2214; Pl PX2513; Pl PX26f3contrast, Democrats opposing the legislationefédhat it
would “have a chilling effect on [their] constitush[right] to vote in cases where voter fraud Imad and would not
be an issue.” Pl PX2495eeP| PX2114; Pl PX234.



23.  Plaintiffs Ray and Johnson were indicted by theedant State of Texas in 2005
because they allegedly possessed and mailed bfaltotsters without providing their names,
signatures and addresses on the ballot’s carieiepe. Pl PX1°

24.  Both Ray and Johnson pled guilty in 2006 to vioigtSection 86.006 of the
Texas Election Code for the mere possession obtsadf other voters. App. Ex. 9. They were
fined and sentenced to terms of probation, whiely ttave completed. Ray and Johnson were
never assessed a finding of guilt, but pursuaatptea bargain, received a deferred adjudication
of the alleged violations. App. Exs. 10, 11. NeitRay nor Johnson were alleged or proven to
have committed any actual voter fraud. Pl Tr.78maPX1’

25. Defendant Abbott portrayed the prosecutions ofelmsssessing or mailing the
ballot of another without providing identifying imfmation (such as plaintiffs Ray and Johnson)
as proof of “voter fraud.”See supran.16-17. However, none of the Plaintiffs in tbése who

has been investigated or prosecuted for assistteys; or possessing or mailing the ballot of

16 Defendant Abbott widely publicized the indictmeafsRay and Johnson, and issued a press relea$X9PI
PX11. In his press release announcing these mditts, Defendant Abbott stated: “The integritpaf election
process must be protected. | am pleased to anadhase indictments and will make certain that aey@ho takes
advantage of Texas voters is held accountable PX3I1. The press release also warned the pulalidhl charges
facing Ray and Johnson were Class B misdemeanbishwe announced “could result in a $2,000 fing an to
six months in county jail."ld.

Despite Defendant Abbott's claims that those iretidhad “take[n] advantage of Texas voters,” the
complete criminal investigation file of the Defenti@dttorney General does not contain any evidehaedither
Ray or Johnson took advantage of any voter, disgegibany voter’s wishes, or engaged in any fraudwdetivity.
App. Ex. 8. Rather, Ray and Johnson were indisteghly for possessing and mailing a ballot of aeva@nd not
providing identifying information on the carrieraiope.

1" Upon entry of the pleas by Ray and Johnson, Detfienébbott again issued a press release, thisitiomrectly
suggesting that Plaintiffs Ray and Johnson had glgtly to voter fraud, instead of mere possessioa voter’s
mail-in ballot without providing information on trearrier envelope. App. Ex. 12. Defendant Ablsaitily 18,
2006 press release announced: “Attorney Generab#l®btains Guilty Pleas In Bowie County Voter kaleCase.”
Id. That press release also stated: “These guiltyspleanonstrate precisely why it is so importantgbald the
integrity of our election process in this state . .We will visit justice upon any who ignore tfaet that we have
election laws in Texas and they apply to everyond.; see alsApp. Ex. 13.

Despite Defendant Abbott’s statements to the contthere is no indication anywhere in the recdrthe
prosecutions of either Ray or Johnson that thegdiig[d]” the law or felt that the law didn’t “apptg” them. Both
have testified in this proceeding that when theyenassisting elderly and infirm voters with votimg mail in the
2004 elections, they simply were not aware thafTidweas Legislature had made it a crime to posseskallot of
another without providing identifying informatior8J Opp. Ex. 9 at 7; SJ Opp. Ex. 22 at 9.



another and failing to sign the carrier envelape, (Plaintiffs Ray, Johnson, Meeks, and
Minneweather) has been alleged to have committgdrandulent act, such as forging a mail-in
ballot signature, mismarking a ballot, failing t@ithe marked ballot, changing the ballot of a
voter without permission, or intimidating or pressg any voter:®

26.  Other Plaintiffs have also been investigated bydeéant Abbott for assisting
elderly and disabled voters in casting their ballmg mail. Plaintiff Meeks was the subject of an
investigation by the State in 2006 for allegedlgg#ssing and mailing ballots of other voters in
Tarrant County and for providing assistance to ngoite casting their ballots. Pl PX15, App.
Exs. 15, 72 In the course of that investigation, investigatiiom the Attorney General’s office
peeped into Ms. Meeks’ bathroom window while she st@pping out of the bathd. Since the
filing of this lawsuit, Plaintiff Meeks sufferedstroke that has confined her to bed, and she thus
requires the assistance of another person in todeate. SJ Opp. Ex. 6 at 31.

27. Like Plaintiff Meeks, Plaintiff Minneweather wasetlsubject of an investigation
by the Defendantfor allegedly possessing and mailing ballots of otlegers in Tarrant County

and for providing assistance to voters in castirartballots. SJ Opp. Ex. 7; PI PXiB3As a

'8 Defendant Abbott has produced a chart showingetsabjected to prosecution for violations of thedse
Election Code since 200%5eeSJ Opp. Ex. 8. This chart indicates that individwdher than Plaintiffs similarly
have been investigated and prosecuted without rgelta proof of actual voter fraud. Despite theaize of any
evidence that Plaintiffs have been in any way imgdlwith any actual voter fraud, when this lawsuas filed, the
Texas Solicitor General R. Ted Cruz — an officiathie office of Defendant Abbott — claimed thatifiéfs are “a
combination of political operatives and individeaiminals who have already pleaded guilty to véteud.” App.
Ex. 14. Cruz added that the State would vigorodsfignd the lawsuit “to ensure that admitted cratsrike the
plaintiffs will not be able to defraud Texas votarsd undermine the integrity of electionsd.

19 plaintiff Meeks resides in Fort Worth and is amiédn-American female, a registered voter in Tarounty,
and a registered Democrat. Plaintiff Meeks is litipal activist associated with both the Texas enatic Party
and the Tarrant County Democratic Party. Plailiffieks has lawfully assisted registered voterserab
(particularly elderly and disabled voters) in cagttheir mail-in ballots. Pl PX15; App. Ex. 7.

0 Plaintiff Rebecca Minneweather resides in Fort iNand is an African-American female, a registeretér in
Tarrant County, and a registered Democrat. PfaMinneweather is a political activist associateith both the
Texas Democratic Party and the Tarrant County DeatioscParty. Plaintiff Minneweather has lawfullysisted
registered voters in Texas (particularly elderld @isabled voters) in casting their mail-in ball@ad she wishes to
provide such lawful assistance to Texas voterherfaiture. SJ Opp. Ex. 7 at 4, 10.

10



direct result of being investigated by Defendanbgib in 2006, Plaintiff Minneweather has
discontinued assisting elderly and disabled vdtargear of being prosecutedd.

Evidence of Differential Enforcement of the Challeged Provisions

28. The Attorney General has acknowledged that alMddials prosecuted under the
2003 legislation have been Democrats. 1.R.81Y14.

29. In contrast, the Attorney General’s office has ingestigated or prosecuted
violations of the election laws allegedly committedRepublicans, such as those involving the
improper and illegal handling of ballots. 1.R.81%§25-16.

30. It appears that all but one of the individuals pmged under the 2003 legislation
is African-American or Hispanic. 1.R.21730; SJ BX:

31. Materials produced by the Defendant Attorney Gdrarggest that a correlation
or relationship exists between membership in a ntyngroup and engaging in voter fraud, as
well as between being a political party activistl gerpetuating voter fraud.

32. For example, sometime after June 3, 2005, the Daf@nAttorney General’s
office prepared a PowerPoint presentation entitlegestigating Election Code Violations.” Pl
PX10. This PowerPoint presentation was used to Traxas officials in investigating and
prosecuting voter fraud. SJ Opp. Ex. 14 at 64.

33. As anintroduction to a section of the PowerPainblving “Poll Place

Violations,” a slide depicts a photograph of AfnreAmerican voters apparently standing in line

2 This Court severed Plaintiffs’ claims regardingiadly discriminatory implementation of the chaltgd
provisions, and those severed claims have beerigdisthwith prejudice pursuant to the settlemerdéemgent
announced in open court on May 28, 2008. Nevertiselthe evidence already in the record regardgpachte
enforcement (offered at the 2006 preliminary infioic hearing) is also relevant to Plaintiffs’ clarat issue in this
motion. For instance, this evidence is relevanthether Section 84.004 is necessary to combaaketter fraud,
whether it burdens the right to vote, and whetherState’s enforcement of the mail-in ballot praoris of the
Election Code has produced a chilling effect oritiegte political activity.

11



to vote. PI PX10. Notably, the 71-slide preseatatontains no similar photographs of white or
Anglo voters casting ballofs.

34.  Another slide in the same PowerPoint presentaioa,section involving tactics
for investigating alleged voter fraud, is entitf&kamine Documents For Fraud.” Pl PX10.
That slide states that investigators should looKimique Stamps” and shows a prominent
picture of a postage stamp known as the “sicklestainp,” which depicts an African-American
woman and her infant. This slide communicates/tee that the use of the sickle cell stamp is
an indication of voter frautf

35. The PowerPoint presentation suggests to those braiimgd or otherwise viewing
it that there is a correlation or relationship betgw Democratic or minority affiliation and the
potential for violating the challenged provisiontne PowerPoint had the likely effect of cuing
state and local officials to focus their investigas and prosecutions under the challenged
provisions against minorities and Democrats.

The Chilling Effect Caused by the Challenged Proviens and Defendants’ Actions

36. As the early and mail-in voting period neared fog November 6, 2006 election,
the chilling effect of the challenged provisiongldheir enforcement materialized. Texas voters

and volunteers — including many affiliated with fhexas Democratic Party — reported being

%2 The presentation does contain a photograph of afyears to be an Anglo Democratic enthusiassicéon
describing the “Poll Place Violation” of “Unlawf@peration of a Sound Truck.” PI PX10. The acconypan
photograph is of a man on a bicycle whose persdrbaycle are covered with “Kerry/Edwards” and “iigiWote”
signs, as well as an American flalgl. The depicted rider does not appear to be transgpatisound truck or
loudspeaker; nor does he appear to be within 1f@&0of a polling place. Thus, this photographgoet illustrate
the “Poll Place Violation” at issue. No similargietions of Republican activists exist in the 7itlslpresentation.
% Sickle cell disease is a group of inherited rembbicell disorders known to particularly affect isém-Americans.
The disease is inherited at birth by individualsrbwith sickle cell hemoglobin, and if so, the dise is present for
life. The “sickle cell stamp” is used extensively African-American consumers — largely for mailiegeryday
items, such as correspondence, bills and cards|l$uffor the infrequent task of mailing absentakoks.

% The PowerPoint presentation has affected theStateestigators. For example, while investigat®igintiffs
Ray and Johnson, Sergeant Jennifer Bloodworthirgoiayee of the Defendant Office of the Attorney &,
inquired of voters specifically about the use sfckle cell stamp allegedly found on the ballotéved African-
American voters to whom Plaintiffs Ray and Johnksad allegedly provided assistance. App. Ex. 8.

12



intimidated and chilled by the State’s enforcenwthe challenged provisions. PI Tr. 66, 88; PI
PX14 at 23-31; PI PX15 at 17-18; 1.R.78-81,82-88Y14,17>°

37. Democratic voters and volunteers were confusedtabbat activities would
trigger investigation and prosecution, despiteTtegas Democratic Party’s efforts to educate its
members about the challenged provisions. Pl Tr886P1 PX14 at 23-31; Pl PX15 at 17-18;
78-71,82-831110-14,7F

38.  Moreover, based on the indictments of Ray, Johreath others, individuals
feared investigation and prosecution for allegetinecal violations of Section 86.006(f) and
other provisions, such as Section 84.004, evehdrabsence of any voter fraud or other illegal
or improper conduct.

39. As Early Voting for the 2006 general election gotlarway, the Texas
Democratic Party found that many of its membersewsrable or unwilling to provide assistance
to mail-in voters, for fear of investigation or gezution by State officials, even in the complete
absence of any fraudulent activity. SJ Opp. Ex456P1 Tr. 66,88; PlI PX14 at 23-24, 26-31; PI
PX15 at 17-18; 1.R.78-809110-11,13. The Partyskas a substantial decline in such assistance

as compared to previous years. SJ Opp. Exs. ®11E; 88; 1.R.77-78,80-8197,13.

% Democratic campaign official Jane Hamilton testifthat Defendant Abbott's investigations and pratiens of
African-Americans was having, in her words, “a hg effect.” SJ Opp. Ex. 6 at 31. Ms. Hamilt@io longer
willing to assist voters by mail as she has inghst, because she fears prosecution by Defenddmttibld. at 38-
39. As aresult of the Attorney General's invgation of her activities assisting elderly voteithwheir mail-in
ballot applications, Plaintiff Minneweather, whaped between 80 and 100 voters with their mailatidis prior to
2006, has stopped assisting voters altogether anddt assisted a single voter since 2006. SJBpg. at 4.
Plaintiff Willie Ray similarly testified that thereas a “chilling effect” in the Texarkana as a teefithe Attorney
General’s office going door to door in the blackmounity and interrogating voters. SJ Opp. Ex. 2P4al19. As
Ms. Ray put it, the chilling effect produced by fthexas Attorney General's investigations and prosens
produced “a spirit killing” among the elderly blackters. Id. at 17.

“ This confusion and fear was exacerbated by thettiat all but one of the State’s voting proseaisince 2003
had been of black or Hispanic individuals, andrsdte Democrats, 1.R.21930; 1.R.81114, and in b§public
comments by State officials, such as the TexaciBmiGeneral's false and defamatory statementsitahe
individual Plaintiffs in this case, 1.R.80-831113,App. Ex. 14.
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40.  Section 84.004's restriction upon witnessing mbaantone mail-in ballot
application per election cycle, under the painraspcution, in conjunction with the chilling
effect of the State’s enforcement efforts, has @néed individuals (including Plaintiffs) from
participating in legitimate organizational effodssigned to maximize early voter turnout and
political participation.

41. The investigation and prosecution of individualsa@edsuprg involved mail-
in ballot provisions. This record of enforcementthe Defendant Attorney General has chilled
all forms of mail-in ballot assistance, includirgtability of Plaintiffs and activists within the
plaintiff Texas Democratic Party who wish to seage’witnesses” and “assistors” to voters in
applying for a mail-in ballot. As set forth in teevorn declarations of Plaintiff Willie Ray, for
example, the restrictions of Section 84.004 haeegmted her from providing needed assistance
to voters. See Ex. 1 in Appendix at {4.

The Defendants Provided Erroneous and Misleading lfimrmation to VVoters About the
Challenged Provisions and Their Enforcement

42.  Section 84.004 and the 2003 amendments to the E&ason Code criminalize
longstanding, legitimate practices in relativelysaphisticated minority communities.
Individuals in these communities were unlikelyearn about the changes in State law and the
State’s enforcement efforts absent some affirmaffe@t by the Staté’

43.  Voting materials produced by Defendant Secretargtate — including the mail-
in ballot applicationthe mail-in ballot instructions, and the mail-inlbaenvelope — provide

confusing and conflicting guidance concerning #sponsibilities and potential liabilities of

2" As the Attorney General's own voting fraud invgator admitted in 2005: “The actual law about Hisigd
ballots, it just went into effect in 2003 and Irtkithe problem is that a lot of people didn’'t knalkout it. There’s
no billboards or anything. There’s no way to himewn the law changed, and so | think it had bearedhis way
for so long in so many counties that that's whyrediaving such a problem now, because the laweasged and
yet there was nothing advertised about it.” SJ.@ppl6 (2/3/05 J. Bloodworth Interview with P. aRdHouff).
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“assistors”, “witnesses”, “possessors”, and “mailerSJ Opp. Exs. 11-13; McGeehan Decl. &
Exs?®

44. Inthe 2004 version of the “Dear Voter” lettdithe Secretary of State’s
instructions encouraged voters to give their bafiat trusted friend or family member. SJ Opp.
Ex. 17. This advice was in keeping with the loagsling practice of many years identified
above, whereby elderly and disabled voters wouldive assistance from trusted friends and
political party activists. The instructions, howeyvfailed to warn voters, among other things:
(1) that there was any limit to the number of niaiballot applications that could be witnessed;
and (2) that it was a crime to witness more thamapplication (unless you were a family
member) Nor were such warnings included in the 2006 &0@B2'Dear Voter” lettersSeeSJ
Opp. Ex. 17seeSJ Opp. Ex. 3 at 92-95.

45.  On numerous occasions, the Secretary of Statern&tyaGeneral and their
representatives have issued erroneous guidanckabkathilled the legitimate efforts of
representatives of political parties and othercconganizations. For example, the State Attorney
General’s office investigators incorrectly informelderly and/or disabled voters that
“everybody has to mail [the ballot] themselves,"@&dp. Ex. 16, and has improperly warned

voters not to accept help from “stranger[s]” whads up” on voters’ “doorstep[s]” to offer

assistance, SJ Opp. Ex. 17. The Secretary of Stagbsite also “recommend|s]” that voters

% The Attorney General and Secretary of State adse fissued conflicting and unclear guidance in RBwimt
presentations to local offices, their websites, mnather materials concerning the challenged @iows. E.g., SJ
Opp. Exs. 3, 14; PI PX10; App. Ex. 16. Among ottiéngs, the Attorney General and Secretary ofeStaiquently
use terms such as “assistor,” “witness,” “mailemt “possessor” interchangeably and different ftbeir statutory
meanings. Under the Texas Election Code, all @$¢ihcategories of helpers have different statuibligations,
varying responsibilities, and different potentieh@inal penalties.

# Each year, the Defendant Secretary of State’seffisues a “Dear Voter” letter to those who agipha mail-in
ballot. SJ Opp. Ex. 3 at 11, 45; SJ Opp. Ex. Tie Secretary of State’s Director of Electionsitiest that these
“Dear Voter” letters were intended to be the Searedf State’s “best effort to educate a voter \igheoting by
mail.” SJ Opp. Ex. 3 at 93. The 2004 Dear Voittel for the first time instructed the voter (bot those assisting
the voter) that the assistor or person mailingbthiéot for the voter needed to sign the carrieredope and provide
identifying information. Id.
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decline help if a “stranger” “‘show[s] up’ on yodporstep offerig to help you with your ballot
soon after you've received it in the mailld. However, neither Section 84.004 nor the 2003
amendments bar such assistatice.

46. In 2006, Texas Democratic Party officials, worradgbut encouraging activities
that could lead to investigation or prosecutionteMerced to curtail their ordinary get-out-the-
vote efforts, with some voter turnout programststgriater than planned or not at all. PI Tr. 88;
1.R.81-831113, 17. The Party sought clarificatfrom State officials about the interpretation
and enforcement of the challenged provisions, leiState did not respond, leaving such matters
to local election administrators and individualzehs. SJ Opp. Ex. 18; Tr. 88; 1.R.82-8317.

Voters Are No Longer Voting or Receiving Their Needd and Preferred Assistance

47.  Absent assistance from Plaintiffs and others likent who wish to assist mail-in
voters, many elderly and disabled voters were hl& #@ apply for, receive, and cast mail-in
ballots in the 2006 election, resulting in lostesit

48.  Even for those mail-in voters who have been ablmast ballots, despite the
State’s enforcement of the challenged provisionsahl were able to rely on the assistance of

the person of their choosing. P1 Tr. 125-26; PI1 BX4117-19. As noted above, some voters in

% |n addition, despite a longstanding practice bijtisal parties and other organizations of “préiity” mail-in

ballot applications — a practice not expresslyawéd by the 2003 amendments and expressly condyide:
Attorney GeneralseePl PX10 — the Secretary of State’s website waras\bters should “ask someone you trust”
if “you need help filling out the [application] for,” but that “you must write the assistant’'s namd address” on
the application and that the helper “must also #ignapplication.”See Texas Secretary of State’s Office, Early
Voting in Texashttp://www.sos.state.tx.us/elections/pamphletsywate.shtml (visited May 28, 2008).

3L SeePl Tr. 68,81; Pl PX14 at 23-24, 31; Pl PX15 at Z5-2.R.78-8118,13; SJ Opp. Ex. 9 at 15-20; SJ @pp.
22 at 14; SJ Opp. Ex. 21 at 21; SJ Opp. Ex. 6 &5L8The voting histories for some of the Texagsaaters
interviewed by the Office of the Attorney Generali005 during the investigation of Willie Ray araimillah
Johnson, show that they did not vote after 200gk (killie Briscoe, Opal Walker) and some votedyoinl the 2006
primary and no other election subsequent to 2804t Eugene Grant, Opal Hart, Bernice Junior, Mary $iiafl

and J.D. Webster). SJ Opp. Ex. 10. Several vbirs informed Plaintiff Jamillah Johnson that ghti of the
prosecutions of Plaintiff Willie Ray and her graaddhter (Ms. Johnson) for mailing the ballots afieely and
disabled voters, they would not vote again. SJ.@pp9 at 15. One voter identified by Ms. Johna@s Louise
French, who was interviewed by investigators friun office of the Texas Attorney General duringitheestigation
of Plaintiffs Ray and Johnsord. at 15-20. Ms. Johnson testified that she belidlgsFrench is now too scared to
ask her for assistance in votinfgl. at 20.

16



need of assistance with mail-in voting are no longeing or receiving any assistance from their
preferred assistor, as a result of the chilling&ftaused by the restrictions in Section 84.004,
and the State’s investigation and prosecution ainffs and others like therf.

The State’s Recent Changes to Balloting Materials

49.  During the course of this litigation, the State haknowledged the shortcomings
of certain of its forms and instructions relatiogte mail-in ballot process. None of the
State’s proposed changes to mail-in voting materelates to Section 84.004’s prohibition
against witnessing more than one mail-in ballotliappon per election.

ARGUMENT

SECTION 84.004 OF THE TEXAS ELECTION CODE VIOLAT ES SECTION 208
OF THE VOTING RIGHTS ACT.

Plaintiffs are entitled to summary judgment witspect to Count IV of their Amended
Complaint. Section 84.004 of the Texas Electiod&limits individuals, under pain of
substantial criminal penalty, to witnessing no mibign_onemail-in ballot application per
election cycle (unless the witness is a family membThe restriction in Section 84.004 applies
to witnessing a ballot for a voter — a type of stsgice that is a prerequistitevoting for either an

illiterate voter or a voter who, due to physicaability, cannot sign his or her name.

%2 Indeed, Plaintiff Ray “recall[s] several instanedsere | was contacted by a voter and asked t@sena witness
for the mail-in ballot application, but | was unalib do so because | had already withessed oneimizallot
application for that election cycle. In those saddold the voter that | was unable to serve adt@ess. | then tried
to find another person who could serve as a witf@sthe voter.” App. Ex. 1 at 4. Similarly, TexRemocratic
Party representative Ken Bailey has stated thatesteiction in Section 84.004 to witnessing onhganail-in ballot
application is not only harmful to voters, but alagts those within the Democratic Party who likes$elf, “have
assisted [mail-in ballot applicants] in the past aho wish to do so in the future.” App. Ex. 2at

33 For example, at oral argument before the Fifttti@iron the State’s appeal of this Court’s preliamninjunction
ruling, counsel for the State stated for the firsie that the State intended to revise its procesitor those voting
by mail. In a post-oral argument submission toGoeirt of Appeals, the State said that it was gdbiecause “the
Court [of Appeals] raised certain concerns regardiaxas’s early-voting, mail-in ballot and carrégwvelope[.]”
The State advised the Court of Appeals that “therary of State intended to modify the ballot dope
instructions and carrier envelope[.]” SJ Opp. Ex.The Defendant Secretary of State has now redeiv
preclearance of these changes from the U.S. Depattofi Justice as required by Section 5 of then{pRights
Act, 42 U.S.C. §1973c.
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Section 208 of the Voting Rights Act provides tfajny voter who requires assistance
to vote by reason of blindness, disability, or iigbto read or write may be given assistatge
a person of the voter’s choicether than the voter's employer or agent of #maployer or
officer or agent of the voter’s union.” 42 U.S&1973aa-6 (emphasis added). Some voters
who need a witness in order to execute a mail-ilobapplication are unable to obtain such
assistance due to the restrictions in Section 84.8@eApp. Exs. 1, 2. Section 84.004 thus
prevents voters who desire to vote by mail fromaotbihg assistance from “a person of the
voter’s choice,” which violates Section 208 of ¥eting Rights Act. Section 84.004
criminalizes completely legitimate assistance tal4mavoters and violates Section 208 by
“burdenling] individuals’ right to provide assistanto voters” and by “burden[ing] and
interfer[ing] with voters’ receipt of assistancerir persons of their choice.” Amended
Complaint 11 64-65.

The State appears to concede, as it must, thaispos of the Texas Election Code must
yield if they conflict with federal lawi.e., Section 208)SeeU.S. Const., Art. VI, T 2* Other
courts addressing Section 208 have recognizedawieus point that state laws and practices
that deprive individuals of their rights under $@ct208 violate federal law and must give way.
See, e.gUnited States v. Berks CounBb0 F. Supp. 2d 525, 532-33, 538 (E.D. Pa. 2003)
(enjoining, in part under Section 208, state pcactif denying non-English speaking voters “the
right to bring the assistor of choice into the mgtbooth”);American Ass’n of People with

Disabilities v. Hood 278 F. Supp. 2d 1345, 1356 (M.D. Fla. 2003).

34 The Court previously ruled at the preliminary imjtion stage that the State of Texas was dismissevereign
immunity grounds with respect to Plaintiffs’ cotigtional claims.SeePI Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law
at 8 1. However, the State of Texas remaingtg pathis suit because of Plaintiffs’ statutotgim, for which
Congress has abrogated state’s sovereign immuBieg, e.g Tennessee v. Lang41 U.S. 509, 519 n.4 (2004).
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The undisputed facts show that Section 84.004tsght limit on the number of people a
person can help, subject to serious criminal pesaltirectly contravenes the right of voters
under Section 208 to receive necessary assistanobading assistance of their choice. As the
sworn Declarations of Willie Ray and Ken Bailey derstrate (App. Ex. 1, 2), Section 84.004
prevents Ms. Ray, Mr. Bailey, and other politicafiasts from providing needed assistance to
voters in the form of witnessing their mail-in mlhpplications. Because Ms. Ray, Mr. Bailey,
and others like them are unable to witness mone ¢in@ voter’s mail-in ballot application per
election cycle, voters are unable to receive neadsistance, request mail-in ballot applications,
and exercise their right to votéd. Section 84.004 thus violates Section 208 by burden
individuals’ right to provide assistance to votarsl by interfering with voters’ receipt of
assistance from persons of their choice.

It is not true, as the State has claimed in thigdiion, that “[t|he voter may choose any
person to assist with the ballot — consistent §i#08 of the Voting Rights Act — as long as the
assistant provides the required disclosures.”eSdtMot. at 48-49. Rather, as Plaintiffs have
established, Section 84.004 limits outri¢i number of people a person can assist to Aise
Ms. Ray’s Declaration makes clear, there have besreral” instances where a voter contacted
her to serve as a witness for his or her mail-itobapplication, but she was unable to do so
because of the restriction in Section 84.004. edwer, this restriction on the number of persons
who may receive the assistance of a witness, wbetbined with the State’s questionable
enforcement history of the provisions challengethia lawsuit, has created a chilling effect
whereby voters are unable or in some cases, ung/tlue to fear, to access the assistor of their
choice. The chilling effect on the rights of vat@nd those who wish to assist them by

witnessing their signatures on mail-in ballot apgiions is exacerbated by Section 84.004’s
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provision that criminalizes merely witnessing —witlll disclosure of identifying information —
a non-family member’s mail-in ballot applicatioBecause Section 84.004 deprives voters of
“assistance by a person of the voter’s choice,U42.C § 1973aa-6, Plaintiffs are entitled to
summary judgment with respect to Section 84.00€ount IV of the Amended Complaint.

Il. SECTION 84.004 BURDENS THE FUNDAMENTAL RIGHT TO VOTE.

Section 84.004 of the Texas Election Code alsddns the fundamental right to vote, in
violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendmentth®United States Constitutiorsee, e.g.
Crawford v. Marion County Election Bcb53 U.S. _ , 2008 U.S. LEXIS 3846 (20(B)irdick
v. Takushi504 U.S. 428 (1992Anderson v. Celebrezz460 U.S. 780 (1983). Under the
Burdick-Andersoriramework, which was reaffirmed @rawford see2008 U.S. LEXIS 3856, at
*12-16 & n.8, “[a] court considering a challengeastate election law must weigh the character
and magnitude of the asserted injury to the rightéected by the First and Fourteenth
Amendments against the precise interests put fahwathe State as justifications for the burden
imposed by its rule." Texas Indep. Party v. Kifl84 F.3d 178, 182 (5th Cir. 1996) (citing
Burdick 504 U.S. at 434, antinderson460 U.S. at 7897

As the Supreme Court recently reiterate@rawford no “litmus test” “neatly
separate[s] valid from invalid restrictions.” 2008S. LEXIS 3856, at *14-16. Rather, “a court
must identify and evaluate the interests put fodAay the State as justifications for the burden
imposed by its rule, and then make the ‘hard judghibat our adversary system demandd.”

at *14. “However slight that burden may appear, it must be justified by relevant and

%t is established that this balancing analysidl‘adt be automatic” because “there is ‘no substifior the hard
judgments that must be made Anderson460 U.S. at 789-90 (quotir®torer v. Brown415 U.S. 724, 730 n.10
(1974));see, e.g.Timmons v. Twin Cities Area New Parb20 U.S. 351, 359 (1997) (“No bright line sepasat
permissible election-related regulation from undibutsonal infringements.”). Thus, “[o]nly aftereighing all of
these factors is a reviewing court in a positiodécide whether the challenged provision is undtutistnal.”
Pilcher v. Rains853 F.2d 334, 336 (5th Cir. 1988) (quotiligdersoi).
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legitimate state interests ‘sufficient to justifietlimitation.” Id. at *16 (quotingNorman v.
Reed 502 U.S. 279, 288-89 (1992)). Because Sectiodd84applies only to elections, which,
by their nature, involve important First and Foartdhh Amendment rights, it is appropriate to
assess under tliBurdick-Andersorfiramework the asserted injury to Plaintiffs anegxamine
the precise interest put forth by the State adfijetion for the burden on Plaintiffs’ rights.
Contrary to the State’s claims, the fact that $&c84.004 concerns mail-in balloting
does not mean that it does not implicate the fureddat right to vote or thBurdick-Anderson
analysis. Indeed, the Secretary of State has nemed)in his official proclamations that casting
a ballot by mail in Texas is synonymous with “exgfiag] your right to vote.” Pl PX8
FurthermoreMcDonald v. Board of Election Commissioners of @gias 394 U.S. 802 (1969),
does not support the State’s claim that restristimm mail-in or absentee balloting do not
implicate fundamental constitutional rights. MlcDonald the Supreme Court held that strict
scrutiny did not apply to prisoners’ claimed rightvote by absentee ballot where there was no
evidencethat prisoners could not otherwise exercise thechise. See394 U.S. at 808° In a
series of subsequent cases interpratficponald the Supreme Court struck down unreasonable
absentee ballot restrictions, despiteDonald’sholding that strict scrutiny did not apply in that
case. For example, @'Brien v. Skinner414 U.S. 524 (1974), the Supreme Court explained
thatMcDonaldmerely “rested on a failure of proof,” and thusisk down a New York law
restricting the use of absentee ballots by prisoasr‘unconstitutionally onerous,” where the

prohibition “denied any alternative means of cagtimeir vote although they are legally qualified

% n its reply brief on summary judgment, the Stais mischaracterized Plaintiffs’ fundamental righvote claims
in stating that Plaintiffs’ “theory” is that “angstrictions on mail-in voting . . . are unconstauogl
disenfranchisement because they may deprive voféhe vote.” State’s Reply Brief at 12. Of corirthat is not
Plaintiffs’ position. Plaintiffs’ claim is that $&on 84.004 is unconstitutional under #erdick-Anderson
framework, which requires weighing all the factsl @ircumstances at issue in this case. It is th&eS “bright
line” — thatMcDonaldforecloses all constitutional challenges to maiballoting restrictionsd. at 12 — that is
inconsistent with the framework reaffirmed@nawford and that must be rejected.
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to vote.” Id. at 530. Similarly, ilPAmerican Party of Texas v. Whi#l5 U.S. 767 (1974), the
Supreme Court rejected the lower court’s uskloDonaldto sanction absentee ballot
restrictions on minority parties, holding thatiStplain that permitting absentee voting by some
classes of voters and denying the privilege torattesses of otherwise qualified voters in
similar circumstances, without affording a comp#atiternative means to vote, is an arbitrary
discrimination violative of the Equal Protectiora@te.” Id. at 795.

Thus,McDonalddoes not permit the State to impose whatever céisins it desires on
absentee balloting or hold that absentee ballatoes not implicate First and Fourteenth
Amendment rights. Rather, where, as with rese8eiction 84.004, voters are significantly
restricted in their right under State law to reeeand cast an absentee ballot, courts must ensure
that such restrictions are not arbitrary, unjustifior unduly onerou¥.

Unlike cases, such &gashington Granger Crawford where a legal challenge is
brought before the law has been enforced by the,stee challenged provisions in this case —
including Section 84.004 — have been in effect@midrced for several years. Thus, Plaintiffs

have been able to develop evidence showing theehardreated by the State’s enforcement

3" The State in this litigation has erroneously ckdhthat “[tJo succeed on their facial challengaiftiffs must
“establish that no set of circumstances existseunhich the [statute] would be valid.”” State’s $lotion at 32-

33 (quotingWashington State Grange v. Washington State Rejaubiarty 128 S. Ct. 1184, 1190 (2008) (in turn,
quotingUnited States v. Salernd81 U.S. 739 (1987))). However, as the Supreo#riCGcknowledged in
Washington Grangdghe Salernostandard has not been held to be controlling mdd&mental right to vote cases and
thus does not bar invalidation of a statute thatlbas than a “plainly legitimate sweep” with restge the
fundamental right to voteSeeWashington Grangel28 S. Ct. at 119@rawford, 2008 U.S. LEXIS 3856, at *35
(holding that a facial fundamental right to votaliénge “must fail where the statute has a ‘plalabjitimate
sweep(internal quotes omitted)).

In addition, critical to the Court’s assessmenthef facial fundamental right to vote challenge€iawford
andWashington Grangwas the pre-enforcement nature of the challengssiae, and the corresponding
evidentiary deficiency that prevented the assestnfehe provisions’ constitutionality. For exarapin
Washington Grangehe Court followed a path of “judicial restrairitcause “[t|he State has had no opportunity to
implement” the challenged blanket primary provisioh28 S. Ct. at 1190-91. Likewise ,Gnawford the Court
could not facially invalidate the voter ID law asue “on the basis of the record that ha[d] beetenrath[at]
litigation,” 2008 U.S. LEXIS 3856, at *33, becaube record did “not provide any concrete eviderfténe burden
imposed on voters who currently lack photo idecdifion” and thus made it impossible for the Coartquantify
either the magnitude of the burden on this narrtasscof voters or the portion of the burden impageoh them
that is fully justified.” Id.
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efforts. Moreover, unlik&®/ashington Granger Crawford this case involves threatened
criminal penaltieon voters and their helpers. As noted abovep#raon violates Section
84.004 by witnessing more than one mail-in balfmglecation in a given election cycle —
regardless whether the helper provides completdifgteng information — that person has
committed a Class B misdemeanor, with a potentialinal penalty of six months in jail and up
to a $2000 fine. This severe criminal penaltybsiously on the extremely severe end of
penalties at issue in fundamental right to votesadshe State’s burden to justify such an
extreme sanction is correspondingly higher.

Evaluating the undisputed evidence under thesealbng standards, it is clear that the
burdens created by Section 84.004 and its enfonsedtenot justify the provisionSee
Crawford, 2008 U.S. LEXIS 3856, at *14 (stating that ithe Court’s role, after hearing all
relevant evidence at trial, to “make the ‘hard jondgt’ that our adversary system demands”).

Since the inception of this lawsuit, the State te@®gnized that there are constitutional
problems with many of the provisions that had bew®allenged in this suit. First, in 2007, the
Texas legislature amended Section 86.006(f) offheas Election Code so as to transform what
had been narrow affirmative defenses to prosecutimnexemptions. Second, the State has
recently proposed revising its carrier envelopeil-madallot envelope, and related instructions,
as described above, to address the novelty andtbreaSections 86.0051 and 86.0(%eeSJ
Opp. Ex. 3®

Despite making these other changes, the Statekes ho steps to remedy the severe

restrictions in Section 84.004. Indeed, it isidiift to imagine what the State could do to

% While the State has claimed in this lawsuit that proposed changes were not legally requiredulbisnission to
the United States Department of Justice (“DOJ"erdpdly makes clear that the proposed changes were
“necessitated” by Plaintiffs’ claims in this litigan. App. Ex. 17..
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alleviate the burden created by that provisiont elearly bars individuals — under pain of
criminal penalty — from assisting more than onelamaballot applicant per election.

While the State has an obvious interest in prémgntoter frauc® there is n@vidence
that the one-application restriction on witnesseSection 84.004 was supported by any
evidence of a link between the activities targeted actual voter fraud. Indeed, it is strange and
proof of arbitrariness that the State would restomne the number of signatures that may be
witnessed on a mail-in ballot application, but wbaobt attempt to impose any restrictions on the
number of mail-in ballots that may be witnessedattempt to limit the number of times a person
may serve as a witness for a voter at the pollswthe voter appears in person. One would
expect that the opportunities for voter fraudh#y exist at all, are more likely to occur at the
ballot castingstage than the ballot applicatistage.

Moreover, the State has offered no evidence tleathiallenged provisions have been
necessary or even useful in investigating or pratseg actual voting fraud. The State’s total
lack of evidence to support its asserted intereptéventing voter fraud weighs against the
constitutionality of the challenged provisiorsf., e.g., Turner Broad. Sys., Inc. v. FG&12
U.S. 622, 664 (1994) (plurality op.) (explainin@thvhere regulations threaten to impair
constitutionally protected rights, the State “madistmore than simply ‘posit the existence of the

disease sought to be cured.” It must demonsthatethe recited harms are real, not merely

39 Contrary to what the State has previously argnetis case, Plaintiffs do not make the broad clhiat “the
State’s interest in curtailing voter fraud does justify imposing criminal liability for conduct &t does not involve
actual voting fraud or intimidation.” State’s Re@rief on Summary Judgment at 4. Rather, Pldmntiere argue
that based on the specific context of this cage-ack of evidence that Section 84.004 has foradtte state’s
asserted interest in preventing voter fraud; thiguely broad and severe nature of Section 84.0@dpteexisting
provisions of Texas law addressing voter fraud; twedsignificant chilling effect created by the @mtement of the
2003 amendments — Section 84.004 unduly infringresrotected constitutional right&eePlaintiffs’ Opp.
Memorandum To Summary Judgment at 27-33. ThetliattSection 84.004 criminalizes legitimate conduct
without requiring a showing of fraud (or any intgri$ of course relevant under tBerdick-Andersoranalysis.
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conjectural, and that the regulation will in fateaiate these harms in a direct and material way”
(citation omitted)).

Furthermore, as the undisputed facts show, tretenage and enforcement of the
provisions challenged in this lawsuit — includingc8on 84.004 — have had a substantial chilling
effect on both mail-in voters and those who wishgeist them. Some individuals have stopped
voting or helping altogether. SJ Opp. Ex. 7 ahd 40; SJ Opp. Ex. 6 at 23, 39. Others have
sharply curtailed their activities due to the peiens’ burdens, vagueness and enforcement. SJ.
Opp. Ex. 6 at 22-23, 38-39; SJ Opp. Ex. 22 at 158I0pp. Ex. 6 at 4; SJ Opp. Ex. 21 at 18.
Specifically, Section 84.004’s restrictions haveyanted individuals from helping persons apply
for mail-in ballots and have deprived voters of withesses of their choosingeeApp. Ex. 1
at Is 4-6 and App. Ex. 2 at s 7-10.

The State has conceded that liability under Se@#t 004 need not be linked to any
actual showing of attempted fraud, coercion or o#r®ngful conduct. State SJ Mot. at 37.
There is also no exception to liability under Sact84.004 for providing all identifying
information or acting with the consent and appraiahe voter. Although those facts are not
themselves dispositive, they indicate a disjunchetween the challenged provisions and the
primary interest asserted by the State — combéataugl.

It is also relevant to thBurdick-Andersomnalysis that the great majority, if not all, of
the State’s recent prosecutions under the maikiloting provisions of the Election Code have
involved no corresponding allegations or proof ciial voter fraud. Indeed, the May 28, 2008
Settlement Agreement reached in this case incladesision to the Attorney General’'s
prosecution guidelines that makes clear that cases as those brought against Plaintiffs Ray

and Johnson, and investigations such as those ctawtaf Plaintiffs Meeks and Minneweather,
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(all of which involved mere ballot possession), Wdano longer occur because they did not
involve fraud of any kind whatsoever:

A single complaint of alleged illegal ballot possies...would receive less consideration

for investigation and, if warranted, prosecutioartta case involving multiple instances

of an effort to manipulate or override the freelaid exercise of the ballot by voters or a

case in which the person acted with intent to defrae voter or the election authority.
May 28, 2008 Tr. at 6. The State’s enforcemertohysfurther undercuts the State’s claim that
the burdens created by Section 84.004 are justifjean interest in combating voter fratfd.

The State’s interest in combating voter fraudui§iciently served by provisions of the
Texas Election Code and Penal Code other thand®e®4i.004, which prohibit voters from
exercising undue influence on mail-in voters angaging in mail-in ballot fraudSee, e.g.

Texas Election Code 88 64.012 (“illegal voting"$.636(1)-(3) (“unlawful assistance”), 84.0041
(false information on mail-in ballot application].hose provisions have been and can be used to
combat wrongdoing related to mail-in ballot apgiilcas. SeeSJ Opp. Ex. 8.

As the Southern District of Texas explained itkstg down a provision of the Texas

Election Code that banned the voter’s possessiaitien communications while marking a

ballot (despite the Court’s determination thatphavision did not “severely” burden voters’

rights), although preventing fraud is a legitimstate interest in the abstract, the challenged law

0 Moreover, the individuals who have been investigaind prosecuted under the Election Code’s méikiloting
restrictions have been predominately minorities Bachocrats. This is so, despite the fact thattimmon
activities criminalized by many of the challengadysions (such as merely possessing another’simaihllot or
envelope) are not unique to minorities or Democratise danger of unfair and arbitrary prosecut®particularly
acute, where, as here, Section 84.004 criminalegmate, non-fraudulent activityThe States’ racially (and
politically) differential enforcement of criminatghibitions related to mail-in balloting providegidence that
Section 84.004 violates Plaintiffs’ fundamentahti¢p vote in multiple respects:

* The selective enforcement has been, in part, refiplerfor the clear chilling effect on mail-in vog and
protected expression and association; and thisiféetirectly relevant to thBurdick-Andersoranalysis.E.g,
Plaintiffs’ Opp. To Summary Judgment at 14-19, 21-2

* The selective enforcement has occurred largelpges with no evidence or allegation of actual fraud
coercion, indicating that the challenged provisidomot forward the State’s asserted interestéwegmting
voter fraud; this factor too is relevantBordick-Andersorand Plaintiffs’ other constitutional claim&.g, id.
at 15, 29.
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was not necessary to achieve that interest, platlgibecause the state’s myriad anti-
electioneering statutes already protected the iityegf the polling place by prohibiting voters
from sharing, exchanging or displaying campaignemals at the polling placeCotham v.
Garza 905 F. Supp. 389, 398, 400-01 (S.D. Tex. 1995).

In sum, Section 84.004 of the Texas Election Aogeses an undue burden as to all
mail-in voters and helpers. When weighed agamsState’s asserted interests, Section 84.004
lacks “a plainly legitimate sweepWashington Grange, supraccordingly, Plaintiffs are
entitled to summary judgment on Count | of the Adesh Complaint.

1. SECTION 84.004 VIOLATES THE FIRST AMENDMENT.

Section 84.004 of the Texas Election Code is figaiamconstitutional because it
prohibits speech and expression fully protectethleyFirst Amendment of the United States
Constitution, including the right of political pee$s and their members to organize and engage in
legitimate election-related political activity. &en 84.004 violates the First Amendment
because it impermissibly restricts core politigagech and association and because it does so in
an overbroad mannefee, e.gBuckley v. American Constitutional Law Foundatilmt,, 525
U.S. 182, 198 & n.12 (1999) (subjecting electiolated restrictions on core political speech to
strict scrutiny);Houston v. Hil] 482 U.S. 451, 458-59 (1973) (setting forth thebstantial
overbreadth” standard for evaluating First Amendnoserbreadth claims).

As the Fifth Circuit has recognized, “[w]ith redato facial First Amendment challenges,
the challenger need only show that a statute arlaéign ‘might operate unconstitutionally under
some conceivable set of circumstance€€nter for Individual Freedom v. Carmoucl&9

F.3d 655, 662 (5th Cir. 2006) (quotikbnited States v. Salernd81 U.S. 739, 745 (1987)).
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In this litigation, the State erroneously clairhattPlaintiffs’ First Amendment claim
must be adjudicated under tBardick-Andersorstandard for facial fundamental right to vote
challenges at issue @rawfordandWashington GrangeHowever, unlike the laws at issue in
CrawfordandWashington GrangeSection 84.004 burdens both the fundamental tmkote
andthe First Amendment associational and expressyrggiof willing helpers (and voters),
such as several of the Plaintiffs in this case.oAgiother things, Section 84.004 threatens to
imposecriminal penaltieon those who help voters through their associatiand expressive
activity. This case is thus unlikerawfordandWashington Grangeneither of which pertained
to the constitutionally protected activities of $ekovho seek to help voters. What is at issue in
Plaintiffs’ First Amendment claim here are the ddansional rights of Plaintiffs and others like
them to associate and express themselves polticall

The Supreme Court has made clear that “[tjhe Finséndment protects the right of
citizens to associate and to form political parteesthe advancement of common political goals
and ideas,” and “[t]he First Amendment protectsrigbt of citizens to associate and to form
political parties for the advancement of commontpall goals and ideas. Timmons v. Twin
Cities Area New Partys520 U.S. 351, 358 (1997). Plaintiffs here inelulde Texas Democratic
Party and Democratic activists who seek to engadinctions ordinarily performed by
political parties,” Reply at 13, such as getting the vote, associating with like-minded fellow
voters and citizens, and assisting party membesrgh as Plaintiffs Meeks and Robinson — in
need of assistance in voting, including mail-inidt&hg. Texas Democratic Party representative
Bailey has underscored that its mail-in ballot pamg and the assistance that the Party provides

to mail-in voters is “vitally important” to the Rgir App. Ex. 2 at 3. These are the very sort of
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core expressive and associational activities ptetely the First Amendment, which is why the
Court must closely scrutinize the challenged priows.

But even if the less stringent standard for fackadllenges articulated @rawfordand
Washington Grangeere applicable here, that framework does not requichallenger to show
that_everyapplication is unconstitutional. Rather, Plaistifiust show under those cases that the
challenged provisions do not have a “plainly legdie sweep.” As explained above, Section
84.004 does not have a plainly legitimate sweeft, @sninalizes a significant amount of
legitimate, non-fraudulent and needed assistanceizens who vote by mail-in ballot.

In addition to claiming that Section 84.004 isiddly invalid under the First Amendment,
Plaintiffs also allege that Section 84.004 is urstiduationally overbroad. AgVashington
Grangemade clear, an overbreadth challenge is “a seggeldf facial challenge in the First
Amendment context” and is not controlled by thadhchallenge standards articulated in
Washington Grangel28 S. Ct. at 1191 n.6. The question with ressfuethe overbreadth aspect
of Plaintiffs’ First Amendment claim is whether 8ea 84.004 is “impermissibly overbroad
because a ‘substantial number’ of its applicat@amesunconstitutional, *“judged in relation to the
statute’s plainly legitimate sweep.”ld. (quotingNew York v. Ferbed58 U.S. 747, 769-771
(1982) andBroadrick v. Oklahoma413 U.S. 601, 615 (1973pee, e.gBroadrick 413 U.S. at
601 (the overbreadth must be “real, but substaasialell, judged in relation to the statute’s
plainly legitimate sweep”). Plaintiffs’ overbreadtlaim requires the Court to determine
whether Section 84.004 is “so broadly written fiithtannot help but have a deterrent effect on
the exercise of First Amendment rightsldward Gault Co. v. Texas Rural Legal Aid, Ir848
F.2d 544, 561 (5th Cir. 1988), such that it “makatawful a substantial amount of

constitutionally protected conductiouston 482 U.S. at 459, 466-67.
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As explained above, any asserted state interestbating voter fraud is not served by
Section 84.004 so as to justify the burdens thatipion creates. In particular, Section 84.004
restricts protected expression and associationiarmmbnjunction with the other mail-in balloting
restrictions of the Election Code, has had a salistachilling effect on political expression and
association.See, e.g App. Exs. 1, 2. The testimony previously fourydtie Court to be
credible evidences that the State’s enforcemeatiofinal prohibitions related to mail-in
balloting has had a broad chilling effect on Pifisit Democratic Party activists and voters.
That broad chilling effect on legitimate politicadtivity extends to those persons, like Plaintiffs
here, who wish to assist voters by witnessing thil-in ballot applications. Accordingly,
Section 84.004's restrictions do not survive sotinder the First Amendment.

Moreover, Plaintiffs have established many “instnof arguable overbreadth” of the
challenged provisiondVashington Grangel28 S. Ct. at 1191 n.6. — such as their applitabi
to those who innocently witness an applicationni@re than one of their neighbors or friends,
do so with full consent of the voter applicants] @ossess no fraudulent or otherwise illegal
intent. Indeed, Plaintiffs Ray and Johnson wevestigated and prosecuted for technical
violations of the mail-in balloting provisions dfe Election Code, despite the fact that there was
no evidence, allegation, or proof that they illdégaifluenced, coerced or acted against the will
of any voter.Because the overbreadth of the challenged prowsmftreal, but substantial as
well, judged in relation to the statute’s plainbgitimate sweep,Broadrick 413 U.S. at 615,
Plaintiffs are entitled to summary judgment on Gduof the Amended Complaint.

CONCLUSION

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs respectfully pray that tRlsurt grant Plaintiffs’ motion for

summary judgment.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned certifies that the foregoing PiiMotion for Summary Judgment
was filed electronically in compliance with Localile CV-5(a). As such, this Motion was
served on all counsel who are deemed to have ctatsanelectronic service. Local Rule CV-
5(a)(3)(A). Pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 5(d) amdadl Rule CV-5(d) and (e), all other counsel of
record not deemed to have consented to electreniice were served with a true and correct
copy of the foregoing by email and/or fax, on th&th day of June, 2008.

/s/ Eric Albritton
Eric Albritton
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